NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SOCIAL WORKERS ASSOCIATION OF SOCIAL WORK BOARDS

# Best Practice Standards in

# Social Work Supervision





# About the Associations

The National Association of Social Workers (NASW) is the largest membership organization of professional social workers in the world. NASW's membership is over 145,000 social workers from 50 states, the District of Columbia, the U.S. Virgin Islands, Guam, Puerto Rico, and U.S. social workers practicing abroad. The mission of NASW is to enhance the professional growth and development of its members, create and maintain professional standards, and advance sound social policies.

**The Association of Social Work Boards (ASWB)** is the association of jurisdictional boards that regulate social work. Membership in ASWB includes 49 states, the District of Columbia, the U.S. Virgin Islands, and ten Canadian provinces. The mission of ASWB is to strengthen protection of the public by providing support and services to the social work regulatory community to advance competent and ethical practices.



# National Association of Social Workers

Jeane W. Anastas, PhD, LMSW President

Elizabeth J. Clark, PhD, ACSW, MPH Chief Executive Officer

# Association of Social Work Boards

Patricia Heard, LCSW, MBA President

Mary Jo Monahan, LCSW Executive Director

#### Task Force on Supervision Standards

Reinaldo Cardona, LCSW, Co-chair Amanda Duffy Randall, PhD, LCSW, Co-chair Fran Franklin, PhD, LCSW Laura W. Groshong, LICSW Alison MacDonald, PhD, RSW Dorinda Noble, PhD, LCSW Brenda Shepherd-Vernon, LICSW Donna Ulteig, LCSW

#### Staff

Mirean Coleman, LICSW, CT Donna DeAngelis, LICSW, ACSW Janice Harrison Kathleen Hoffman

©2013 National Association of Social Workers. All Rights Reserved.

©2013 Association of Social Work Boards. All Rights Reserved.

# Contents

5	Introduction
6	Overview of Supervision
7	Administrative
8	Educational
8	Supportive
9	Qualifications
10	Standard 1. Context in Supervision
10	Understanding Scope of Practice
10	Communities of Practice
11	Interdisciplinary Supervision
11	Cultural Awareness and Cross-cultural Supervision
12	Dual Supervision and Conflict Resolution
12	Standard 2. Conduct of Supervision
13	Confidentiality
13	Contracting for Supervision
14	Leadership and Role Model
15	Competency
15	Supervisory Signing Off
15	Self-Care
16	Standard 3. Legal and Regulatory Issues
16	Liability
17	Regulations
18	Documentation
18	Other Legal Concerns
19	Standard 4. Ethical Issues
20	Ethical Decision-Making
21	Boundaries
22	Self-Disclosure
22	Attending to Safety
22	Alternative Practice
23	Standard 5. Technology
24	Distance Supervision
24	Risk Management
24	Evaluation and Outcomes
27	Termination
28	References
28	Resources

# Introduction

The National Association of Social Workers (NASW) and the Association of Social Work Boards (ASWB) have developed *Best Practice Standards in Social Work Supervision* (hereafter "Supervision Standards") to support and strengthen supervision for professional social workers. The standards provide a general framework that promotes uniformity and serves as a resource for issues related to supervision in the social work supervisory community.

The knowledge base of the social work profession has expanded, and the population it serves has become more complex. Therefore, it is important to the profession to have assurance that all social workers are equipped with the necessary skills to deliver competent and ethical social work services. Equally important to the profession is the responsibility to protect clients.

The NASW and ASWB Task Force on Supervision Standards maintain that supervision is an essential and integral part of the training and continuing education required for the skillful development of professional social workers. Supervision protects clients, supports practitioners, and ensures that professional standards and quality services are delivered by competent social workers.

The NASW *Code of Ethics* and the *ASWB Model Social Work Practice Act* serve as foundation documents in the development of the supervision standards. These standards support the practice of social workers in various work settings and articulate the importance of a collective professional understanding of supervision within the social work community.

# **Overview of Supervision**

There are numerous definitions of supervision. For the purposes of these supervision standards, professional supervision is defined as the relationship between supervisor and supervisee in which the responsibility and accountability for the development of competence, demeanor, and ethical practice take place. The supervisor is responsible for providing direction to the supervisee, who applies social work theory, standardized knowledge, skills, competency, and applicable ethical content in the practice setting. The supervisor and the supervisee both share responsibility for carrying out their role in this collaborative process.

Supervision encompasses several interrelated functions and responsibilities. Each of these interrelated functions contributes to a larger responsibility or outcome that ensures clients are protected and that clients receive competent and ethical services from professional social workers. During supervision, services received by the client are evaluated and adjusted, as needed, to increase the benefit to the client. It is the supervisor's responsibility to ensure that the supervisee provides competent, appropriate, and ethical services to the client.

There are many models of supervision described in the literature, ranging from traditional, authoritarian models to more collaborative models. Different models of supervision place emphasis, in varying degrees, on the client, the supervisor, the supervisee, or the context in which the supervision takes place. Ideally, the supervisor and the supervisee use a collaborative process when a supervision model is selected; however, it is ultimately the responsibility of the supervisor to select the model that works best for the professional development of the supervisee.

The supervisory relationship is built on trust, confidentiality, support, and empathic experiences. Other qualities inherent in the supervisory relationship include constructive feedback, safety, respect, and self-care.

The standards for social work supervision should be used in conjunction with professional judgment and should not be the exclusive basis on which a decision is made. Supervisors should always familiarize themselves with the supervisory requirements of regulatory and accreditation bodies that control their particular geographic area, work setting, or both.

Supervision ensures that supervisees obtain advanced knowledge so that their skills and abilities can be applied to client populations in an ethical and competent manner. Some areas of knowledge, and the application of that knowledge to clients, can only be translated during the supervisory process. Supervision provides guidance and enhances the quality of work for both the supervisor and the supervisee and, ultimately, the client.

The activities of supervision are captured by three primary domains that may overlap: administrative, educational, and supportive.

# Administrative

Administrative supervision is synonymous with management. It is the implementation of administrative methods that enable social workers to provide effective services to clients. Administrative supervision is oriented toward agency policy or organizational demands and focuses on a supervisee's level of functioning on the job and work assignment.

# Educational

Educational supervision focuses on professional concerns and relates to specific cases. It helps supervisees better understand social work philosophy, become more self-aware, and refine their knowledge and skills. Educational supervision focuses on staff development and the training needs of a social worker to a particular caseload. It includes activities in which the supervisee is guided to learn about assessment, treatment and intervention, identification and resolution of ethical issues, and evaluation and termination of services.

#### Supportive

Supportive supervision decreases job stress that interferes with work performance and provides the supervisee with nurturing conditions that compliment their success and encourage self-efficacy.

Supervisees are faced with increasing challenges that contribute to job stress, including the growing complexity of client problems, unfavorable physical work environments, heavy workloads, and emotionally draining environments such as vicarious trauma. Supportive supervision is underscored by a climate of safety and trust, where supervisees can develop their sense of professional identity.

The combination of educational, administrative, and supportive supervision is necessary for the development of competent, ethical, and professional social workers.

# Qualifications

The qualifications for an approved social work supervisor are specified in the licensing statutes and regulatory standards of each jurisdiction, and may include specifications for each level of social work practice or be universal, with one set of qualifications for all practice levels. The general qualifications for supervision may include the following:

- a current license to practice at the specific level or above the level in which the supervision will be provided, and in the jurisdiction in which both the supervisor and the supervisee are practicing
- a degree from an accredited school of social work
- specified coursework in supervision, a minimum number of continuing education hours in supervisory practice as required by the jurisdiction, or both
- a minimum of three years (or more if required in licensing statutes) of post licensure practice experience
- continuing education hours as required for maintenance of supervisory credentials in the practice jurisdiction
- being free from sanction of the licensing board for violation(s) of practice standards.

In addition, social work supervisors should have experience and expertise in the practice arena and with the population of the supervisees' practice, such as addictions, children and adolescents, mental health, and community organization. Supervisors should have competencies in the theories and various modalities of treatment and maintain currency through the use of professional journals and continuing education.

Effective supervision requires knowledge of the principles of supervision and the ability to demonstrate necessary skills such as addressing both strengths and challenges of the supervisee, modeling and discussing ethical practice, and providing support and encouragement in the learning context. Supervisors should be familiar with the administrative and organizational structure of the agency or practice domain of the supervisee.

# **Standard 1. Context in Supervision**

General contextual matters important to the supervision process include the following:

## **Understanding Scope of Practice**

Supervision may be provided to address a variety of issues. Among the most common is supervision for obtaining an advanced practice license, particularly a clinical license. Supervision may also be provided to new or recent graduates, focusing on the practical aspects of helping clients. It may also include social workers who have been sanctioned following disciplinary action and those learning a new practice or skill. Supervisors must be sure they meet the qualifications to become a supervisor and have a clear understanding of the skills and knowledge that the supervisory relationship is designed to help the supervisee develop.

# **Communities of Practice**

Many social workers practice within the community in which they live and may have "insider" knowledge about community issues that may assist in building a therapeutic alliance, identifying appropriate referrals, or simply understanding clients' concerns. Being an insider may also result in dual or multiple relationships. Social work supervisors may address these issues by establishing parameters to the supervisory relationship, with attention to boundaries and self-monitoring. In all cases, supervisors must ensure that the professional relationship is paramount and protected.

## Interdisciplinary Supervision

With the increasing focus on interdisciplinary practice in recent years, social workers may be supervised by a professional of a different discipline. Although this may be appropriate within the team or unit context, social workers should seek supervision or consultation from another social worker with regard to specific social work practices and issues. Similarly, a social worker providing supervision to a member of another discipline should refer that supervisee to a member of her or his own profession for practice-specific supervision or consultation.

# Cultural Awareness and Cross-cultural Supervision

Social work supervisors should adhere to the *NASW Standards for Cultural Competence in Social Work Practice* and have specialized knowledge and understanding about the culture of the client population served by the supervisee. Supervisors should be able to communicate information about diverse client groups to supervisees and help them to use appropriate methodological approaches, skills, and techniques that reflect their understanding of the role of culture in the helping process.

The supervisor who is supervising a social worker with a different cultural background should develop knowledge about that culture as it relates to social work practice. Primary sources of information may include the supervisee or other practitioners familiar with the supervisee's cultural community.

## **Dual Supervision and Conflict Resolution**

In circumstances in which a supervisee is being administratively or clinically supervised simultaneously by more than one person, it is best practice to have a contractual agreement or memorandum of understanding delineating the role of each supervisor, including parameters of the relationships, information sharing, priorities, and how conflicts will be resolved. If no agreement exists, the immediate employment supervisor may have the final say.

# **Standard 2. Conduct of Supervision**

The underlying agreement between supervisors and supervisees includes the premise that supervisees depend on the skills and expertise of supervisors to guide them. Respect for the different roles that supervisors and supervisees play in the supervisory relationship is a key factor in successful supervision.

To maintain objectivity in supervision, it is important to

- negotiate a supervision contract with mutually agreeable goals, responsibilities, and time frames
- provide regular feedback to supervisees on their progress toward these goals

- establish a method for resolving communication and other problems in the supervision sessions so that they can be addressed
- identify feelings supervisees have about their clients that can interfere with or limit the process of professional services.

## Confidentiality

Supervisors must ensure that all client information be kept private and confidential except when disclosure is mandated by law. Supervisees should inform clients during the initial interview that their personal information is being shared in a supervisory relationship. Supervisors also have an obligation to protect and keep the supervisory process confidential and only release information as required by the regulatory board to obtain licensure or if necessary, for disciplinary purposes.

#### **Contracting for Supervision**

In situations in which an agency may not have a clinical supervisor who meets the qualifications of a supervisor as required by the regulatory board, a social work supervisee may contract for supervision services outside the agency to qualify for a clinical license. Supervisees should contact the regulatory board in their jurisdictions in advance of contracting to confirm whether such a practice is permitted and confirm the documentation required from the supervisor. The time frame required for the supervision period should also be confirmed.

Contracting for outside supervision can be problematic and may place a supervisor at risk. If the supervisee is paying for the services, he or she can dismiss the supervisor, especially if disagreements or conflicts arise. The supervisee can also blame the supervisor if there is failure in the licensing process. In addition, the supervisor may encounter case management conflicts between the supervisee and the agency.

Development of a contractual agreement among the social worker, the supervisor, and the employing agency is essential in preventing problems in the supervisory relationship. The agreement should clearly delineate the agency's authority and grant permission for the supervisor to provide clinical supervision. Evaluation responsibilities, periodic written reports, and issues of confidentiality should also to be included in the agreement.

Supervisors and supervisees should also sign a written contract that outlines the parameters of the supervisory relationship. Frequent written progress reports prepared by the supervisor should be required and, if appropriate, meet the ongoing standards established by jurisdictions and agency requirements.

## Leadership and Role Model

Supervisors play a key role in the professional development of their supervisees. The actions and advice of the supervisor are keenly observed by supervisees, and consequently, influence much of the supervisee's thinking and behavior. Teaching is an important function of the supervisor, who models the behavior the supervisee will emulate. Supervisors should create a learning environment in which supervisees learn about the internal and external environments in which they work as well as the environments in which their clients find themselves each day.

# Competency

Social work supervisors should be competent and participate in ongoing continuing education and certification programs in supervision. Supervisors should be aware of growth and development in social work practice and be able to implement evidence-based practice into the supervisory process. Supervisors should also be aware of their limitations and operate within the scope of their competence. When specialty practice areas are unfamiliar, supervisors should obtain assistance or refer supervisees to an appropriate source for consultation in the desired area.

## **Supervisory Signing Off**

Supervisors should submit reimbursement claims only for services that they performed. "Signing off" on services performed by a supervisee who is ineligible to seek reimbursement is fraudulent. Supervisors and supervisees should be aware of the statutes and regulations addressing this matter in their jurisdictions.

## Self-Care

It is crucial for supervisors to pay attention to signs of job stress and address them with their supervisees and themselves. Supervisors should provide resources to help supervisees demonstrating symptoms of job stress and make outside referrals as necessary. Peer consultation can be helpful to supervisors and supervisees in such cases.

# Standard 3. Legal and Regulatory Issues

Social work supervisors share responsibilities for the services provided to clients. Liability of supervisors has been determined by the courts and includes direct liability related to negligent or inadequate supervision and vicarious liability related to negligent conduct by supervisees. Supervisors and supervisees should both have professional liability insurance.

In an agency setting, a supervisor's potential liability is affected by his or her level of responsibility and authority. Supervisors should familiarize themselves with the scope of their responsibility and authority, which may be specified in an agency written policy manual, the supervisor's job description, or a written contractual agreement.

The requirements and expectations of a supervisor's position also may affect liability, especially in situations in which the supervisor may have competing demands and is unable to adequately perform his or her supervisory functions. Such situations may present legal challenges.

#### Liability

Direct liability may be charged against a supervisor when inappropriate recommendations carried out by a supervisee are to a client's detriment. Direct liability can also be charged when a supervisor assigns duties to a supervisee who is inadequately prepared to perform them.

Social work supervisors should be proactive in preventing boundary violations that should be discussed at the beginning of the supervisory

16

relationship. A supervisor should not supervise family members, current or former partners, close friends, or any person with whom the supervisor has had a therapeutic or familial relationship. In addition, a supervisor should not engage in a therapeutic relationship with a supervisee.

Vicarious liability involves incorrect acts or omissions committed by the supervisee that can also be attributed to the supervisor. Supervisees can be held to the same standard of care and skill as that of their supervisors and are expected to abide by the statutes and regulations in their jurisdictions.

For purposes of risk management, supervisors should

- ensure that the services provided to clients by supervisees meet or exceed standards or practice
- maintain documentation of supervision
- monitor supervisee's professional work activities
- identify actions that might pose a danger to the health and/or welfare of the supervisees' clients and take prompt and appropriate remedial measures
- identify and address any condition that may impair a supervisee's ability to practice social work with reasonable skill, judgment, and safety.

#### Regulations

The statutes and regulations for the qualifications of supervisors and licensing requirements for supervisees may vary by jurisdiction. An increasing number of jurisdictions are requesting supervision contracts and plans prior to the commencement of supervision. It is the responsibility of supervisors and supervisees to familiarize themselves with the specific requirements in their jurisdictions for the qualifications for supervision, licensure, supervision contracts and plans, and other requirements. Many social work regulations require all supervision for purposes of licensure to be provided by a licensed clinical social worker.

#### Documentation

Documentation is an important legal tool that verifies the provision of services. Supervisors should assist supervisees in learning how to properly document client services performed, regularly review their documentation, and hold them to high standards.

Each supervisory session should be documented separately by the supervisor and the supervisee. Documentation for supervised sessions should be provided to the supervisee within a reasonable time after each session. Social work regulatory boards may request some form of supervision documentation when supervisees apply for licensure. Records should be safeguarded and kept confidential.

Where appropriate, supervisors should train supervisees to document for reimbursement and claims submission.

#### **Other Legal Concerns**

The experienced social worker developing skills in a new specialty area may receive supervision limited to the new area of practice. A supervisor is selected on the basis of his or her expertise in the specialty area. Having a supervision contract or plan detailing the obligations of both parties may be helpful. Supervision may be required following disciplinary action. In such situations, an agreement between the supervisor, supervisee, and other authority should be developed to address such items as corrective issues to be covered in supervision, information sharing between the parties, and frequency of supervision.

Social work supervisors may retain a consultant for case consultation and review as necessary, especially when conflicts arise.

# **Standard 4. Ethical Issues**

Social work supervisors and supervisees may face ethical dilemmas when providing services to clients. To address those dilemmas, the supervisor and the supervisee should have a thorough knowledge of the code of ethics under which they practice. The NASW *Code of Ethics* serves as a guide to assist supervisors in working with ethical issues that arise in supervisory relationships. The following precepts from the NASW *Code of Ethics* are incorporated throughout these standards.

- 3.01(a) "Social workers who provide supervision or consultation should have the necessary knowledge and skill to supervise or consult appropriately and should do so only within their areas of knowledge and competence" (p. 19).
- 3.0l (b) "Social workers who provide supervision or consultation are responsible for setting clear, appropriate, and culturally sensitive boundaries" (p. 19).
- 3.01(c) "Social workers should not engage in any dual or multiple relationships with

supervisees in which there is a risk of exploitation of or potential harm to the supervisee" (p. 19).

 3.01(d) "Social workers who provide supervision should evaluate supervisee" performance in a manner that is fair and respectful" (p. 19).

Supervisors have the responsibility to address any confusion that supervisees may encounter as a result of ethical demands. A supervisor should be aware of the differences between professional ethics, core values, and personal moral beliefs and help the supervisee to distinguish these elements when making practice decisions. Supervisors can use the supervisory relationship as a training ground for ethical discretion, analysis, and decision-making.

#### **Ethical Decision-Making**

Supervisors help supervisees learn ethical decision-making, a process that is both cognitive and emotional. Supervisors should discuss and model the process of identifying and exploring problems, looking at issues, values, principles, and regulations. Supervisors and their supervisees should discuss possible consequences, as well as costs and benefits, of certain actions. They should explore what actions best achieve fairness, justice, and respect for others, make a decision about actions to be taken, and evaluate them after implementation. When a supervisee makes an ethical mistake, he or she, with the assistance of the supervisor, should try to ameliorate any damage and learn how to avoid that mistake in the future. If appropriate or required by the jurisdiction, the violation may have to be reported to the licensing board.

## **Boundaries**

The supervisory relationship is an excellent forum for supervisees to learn about boundaries with clients. Ethical issues related directly to supervision include the nature of the professional responsibility to the supervisee, appropriate boundaries, and responsibilities when dealing with incompetent or unethical behavior.

Becoming involved in a romantic or familial relationship with a supervisee is an ethical violation and should be strictly avoided because it creates marked role conflict that can fatally undermine the supervisory relationship.

If the supervisor recognizes a potential boundary issue with a supervisee, he or she should acknowledge it, assess how the boundary issue has affected supervision, and resolve the conflict.

Although the supervisory relationship is between professionals, supervisors usually have more power in the relationship than supervisees. To avoid boundary problems and conflicts of interest with a supervisee, the ethical supervisor must accept his or her power and be comfortable in using that authority to ensure accountability and protect clients.

Other ethical considerations include the following:

- A supervisor should always focus on the goals of supervision and the nature of the supervisory relationship and avoid providing psychotherapy services to the supervisee.
- Supervisors working with more than one supervisee should see each supervisee as an individual and adapt to that supervisee's

needs. At the same time, supervisors must be fair and consistent when providing supervision to multiple supervisees.

#### Self-disclosure

Supervisors should be discreet in sharing personal information and not allow it to become the focus of supervision. When personal information is disclosed, it should be brief and support the goals of supervision. Supervisors should explain their comments and rationale to help supervisees gain understanding of appropriate techniques to use in the interview process with clients.

# Attending to Safety

Supervisors make supervisees aware of safety issues and train them how to respond to workplace conflict, respond to threats and harassment, protect property, and deal with assaults and their emotional aftermath. Supervisors help supervisees plan for safety in the office and in the community by learning non-violent response strategies and appropriate ways to respond to crises.

## **Alternative Practice**

The social work supervisor should decide whether an alternative practice, a non-traditional social work intervention, is the best modality of treatment for a supervisee to use with a client.

When a supervisee uses an alternative practice, the supervisor should have expertise of that practice and ensure that the supervisee has the prerequisite training and knowledge to perform the alternative practice. In situations in which the supervisor does not have the skills to provide the alternative practice, it may be necessary to involve a second supervisor. In such cases, the two supervisors should work closely together to avoid conflicts and ensure effective use of the alternative practice for the client.

# Standard 5. Technology

The rapid growth and advances in technology present many opportunities and challenges in a supervisory relationship. When using or providing supervision by technological means, supervisors and supervisees should follow standards applied to a face-to-face supervisory relationship. Supervisors should demonstrate competency in the use of technology for supervision purposes and keep abreast of emerging technologies. Supervisors should be aware of the risks and benefits of using technology in social work practice and implement them in the learning process for supervisees. All applicable federal, provincial, and state laws should be adhered to, including privacy and security rules that may address patient rights, confidentiality, allowable disclosure, and documentation and include requirements regarding data protection, encryption, firewalls, and password protection.

When supervision is being provided for licensure purposes, supervisors and supervisees have the responsibility to familiarize themselves with specific definitions and requirements by social work regulatory boards for the use of technology in practice. For successful communication, compatible equipment, software, and other infrastructure are required by both parties.

## **Distance Supervision**

The use of technology for supervision purposes is gradually increasing. Video-conferencing is a growing technological tool used to provide supervision, especially in remote areas. Some jurisdictions allow electronic means for supervision; others may limit the amount of supervision that can be provided from a distance. When using technology to provide distance supervision, one must be aware of standards of best practice for providing this tool and be knowledgeable of the statutes and regulations governing the provision of such services.

## **Risk Management**

Using technology in social work practice presents many risks. Supervisors should ensure a learning process that emphasizes a standard of care consistent with the NASW *Code of Ethics*, *NASW and ASWB Standards for Technology in Social Work Practice*, Canadian Social Workers *Code of Ethics*, licensing laws, applicable organization policies and procedures, and regulations for businesses. Doing so ensures high-quality services; protects the supervisor, supervisee, and client; and safeguards against malpractice issues.

# **Evaluation and Outcomes**

The evaluation and outcome of the supervisory process is an integral part to the development of professional social workers. The evaluation of the supervisee, as well as the evaluation of the impact and outcome of supervision, is a significant responsibility of the supervisor. An evaluation serves many purposes, which vary depending on the setting and context. An evaluation can be used to determine whether a supervisee is able to practice social work with increasing independence in a competent and ethical manner. An evaluation can also be used for licensure or credentialing reasons, annual job performance, probation, promotion, or merit salary increases. Social work supervisors have the responsibility of evaluating the performance of supervisees in a fair manner with clearly stated criteria.

All evaluations have several common elements. The first element is a formal agreement between the supervisor and the supervisee regarding expectations for the outcome of the evaluative process. At the beginning of each supervisory relationship, the supervisor, in collaboration with the supervisee, should prepare written, measurable goals and specific guidelines to evaluate the supervisee's performance. In addition, the evaluation should include a time frame for goal attainment and a systematic procedure for disengaging from supervision once the goal has been reached.

Tools used to measure supervision goals can be a combination of various pre-determined criteria including: case studies, progress notes, conversations, the successful implementation of treatment plans, and client outcomes.

To enhance learning and increase the effectiveness of supervision, a systematic procedure for ongoing supervisory feedback is necessary. Feedback during the supervisory process is planned and continuous and in written and verbal form. Planned supervisory feedback allows both the supervisor and the supervisee to make modifications, if needed, to improve professional practice and skill development. Continuous feedback also helps to determine the impact and effectiveness of the received supervision. When using an evaluation as a learning process, clinical and administrative errors can be expected and do occur but should not be used in a punitive manner.

The final stage of an evaluative process should include a discussion of future challenges that the supervisee may encounter and the resources that the supervisee can use to resolve those challenges. The goals of an evaluation process are to improve the delivery of services to clients, maintain ethical and competent social work practice, and protect the public. Structuring an evaluation process focused on the supervisory learning experience and the identification of future learning needs is an important part of the supervisory process. Supervisors have the responsibility of researching and selecting the best evaluative tool for supervision.

For purposes of licensing and credentialing, a supervisory evaluation is an aid to public protection. The supervisor is the last gate to competent, independent clinical practice and one of the best resources regarding a supervisee's fitness to practice social work. The supervisor has the responsibility of identifying incompetent or unethical practice and taking appropriate steps to properly address the errors of the supervisee.

# **Terminating the Supervisory Relationship**

Ending the supervisory relationship is just as important as beginning it and a supervisor should devote attention to it. Termination occurs when the supervisor or supervisee leaves the organization or is promoted or when the supervisee obtains licensure. It may also occur when the goals are achieved in the agreement between the supervisor and supervisee.

It is important for supervisors to identify early on the dynamics of termination as they emerge and assist supervisees in learning specific skills to deal with termination. Helping supervisees to address their concerns about termination can help make termination a good experience. All documentation by the supervisor should be completed by the time of termination. It is unprofessional and possibly unethical to withhold status or final reports, particularly where such reports are required for licensing documentation.

Two germane areas of work require attention: (1) termination of the supervisory relationship and (2) termination of the supervisee-client relationship. When the supervisor is leaving, if appropriate, a smooth transition to a new supervisor should be arranged. The skills used in ending a supervisory relationship can also be used with clients. A supervisor models for the supervisee the skills required to terminate with clients and addresses concerns that he or she may have about termination. Supervisory focus on the termination phase helps to ensure a quality and safe termination of the supervisee-client relationship and makes for a positive supervisory-supervisee transition.

# **References**

National Association of Social Workers. (2008). Code of ethics of the National Association of Social Workers. Washington, DC: Author.

#### **Resources**

American Board of Examiners in Clinical Social Work. (2004). *Clinical supervision: A practice specialty of clinical social work*. Marblehead, MA: Author.

Association of Social Work Boards. (2009). *An analysis of supervision for social work licensure*. Culpepper, VA: Author. Retrieved from www.aswb.org/pdfs/supervisionjobanalysis.pdf

Association of Social Work Boards. (2011). *Model Social Work Practice Act.* Culpepper, VA: Author. Retrieved from www.aswb.org/pdfs/Model\_law.pdf

Austin, M., & Hopkins, K. (2004). *Supervision as collaboration in the human services: Building a learning culture*. New York: Sage Publications.

Barker, R. L. (2003). *The social work dictionary* (5th ed.). Washington, DC: NASW Press.

Beddoe, L. (2010). Surveillance or reflection: Professional supervision in 'the risk society.' *British Journal of Social Work*, 40. 1279-1296.

Bennett, S. & Deal, K. H. (2009). Beginnings and endings in social work supervision: The interaction between attachment and developmental processes. *Journal of Teaching in Social Work*, 29(1), 101-117. Christie, A. (2009). Workplace abuse: Roles of the supervisor and the supervisee. *Journal of Social Work Values and Ethics*, 6(1). Retrieved from www.socialworker.com/jswve/content/ view/114/67/

Coleman, M. (2002). Using technology in the practice of clinical social work. Washington, DC: National Association of Social Workers.

Coleman, M. (2003). *Supervision and the clinical social worker*. Washington, DC: National Association of Social Workers.

Davis, R. T. (2010). Constructing a profession of social work: The role of social work supervision. Social Work Review, 9(1). 20-30.

Dewane, C. (2007, July/August). Supervisor, beware: Ethical dangers in supervision. *Social Work Today*, 7(4). 34.

Doyle, O. Z., Miller, S. E., & Mirza, F.Y. (2009). Ethical decision-making in social work: Exploring personal and professional values. *Journal of Social Work Values and Ethics*, 6(1). Retrieved from: www.socialworker.com/jswve/ content/view/113/67/

Falvey, J. E. (2002). *Managing clinical supervision: Ethical practice and legal risk management*. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole.

Greene, K. R. (2002). Paternalism in supervisory relationships. *Social Thought*, *21*(2). 17-31.

Haynes, R., Corey, G., & Moulton, P. (2003). *Clinical supervision in the helping professions: A practical guide*. Belmont, CA: Brooks/Cole. Gilbert, C., & Maxwell, C. F. (2011, March-April). Clinical supervision in healthcare in the internet era. *Social Work Today*, *11*(2), 24-27.

GroupInterVisual LTD. (2002). *Guidelines for engagement in online supervision*. Retrieved from www.online-supervision.net/resources/ usageguidelines.asp

Kadushin, A., & Harkness, D. (2002). *Supervision in social work*. New York: Columbia University Press.

McCarty, D., & Clancy, C. (2002). Telehealth: Implications for social work practice. *Social Work*, 47. 153-161.

Munson, C. (2002). *Handbook of clinical social work supervision*. New York: Haworth Social Work Practice Press.

Munson, C. (2002). *Supervisor*; *beware: Ethical dangers in supervision*. New York: Columbia University Press.

Munson, C. (2006). Contemporary issues and trends in social work. In W. J. Spitzer (Ed.), *Supervision of health care social work: Principles and practice* (pp. 1-22). Petersburg, VA: Dietz Press.

National Association of Social Workers. (2001). *NASW standard for cultural competence in social work practice*. Retrieved from www.socialworkers.org/practice/standards/ NASWCulturalStandards.pdf National Association of Social Workers. (2005). NASW standards for clinical social work in social work practice. Retrieved from www.socialworkers.org/ practice/standards/NASWClinicalSW Standards.pdf

National Association of Social Workers. (2008). Code of ethics of the National Association of Social Workers. Retrieved from www.socialworkers.org/ pubs/code/code.asp

National Association of Social Workers and Association of Social Work Boards. (2005). *NASW and ASWB standards for technology and social work practice*. Retrieved from www.socialworkers.org/practice/standards/ NASWTechnologyStandards.pdf

Neil, T., K., Holloway, E., & Hans, K. (2010). A systems approach to supervision of child psychotherapy. In T. K. Neill (Ed.) *Helping others help children: Clinical supervision of child psychotherapy* (pp. 7-33). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

Noble, C., & Irwin, J. (2009). Social work supervision: An exploration of the current challenges in a rapidly changing social, economic and political environment. *Journal of Social Work*, 9. 345-358.

Pack, M. (2009). Clinical supervision: An interdisciplinary review of literature with implications for reflective practice in social work. *Reflective Practice*, *10*, 557-668.

Pisani, A. (2005). Talk to me: Supervisees disclosure in supervision. *Smith College Studies in Social Work*, 75(1). 29-47.

Reamer, F. G. (2003). Boundary issues in social work: Managing dual relationships. *Social Work*, *48*, 121-133.

Reamer, F. (2006). Self-disclosure in clinical social work. *Social Work Today*, 6(6), 12-13.

Santhiveeran, J. (2009). Compliance of social work e-therapy websites to the NASW code of ethics. *Social Work in Health Care*, *48*, 1-13.

Schoener, G. (2011, May.) Furry vengeance: How regulators deal with fuzzy boundary issues. Vancouver, Canada: Association of Social Work Boards.

Shulman, L. (2010). *Interactional supervision*.(3rd ed). Washington, DC: NASW Press.

Tropman, J. E. (2006). Supervision and management in nonprofits and human services: How not to become the administrator you always hated. Peosta, IA: Eddie Bowers.

Tsui, M. (2005). Social work supervision: Contexts and concepts. New York: Sage Publications.



NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SOCIAL WORKERS 750 First Street, NE Suite 700 Washington, DC 20002-4241 202.408.8600 SocialWorkers.org